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Ex. Coll.: Sitter; to his widow Catherine Dexter Haven Hilliard (1802-88); to their son Samuel 
Haven Hilliard; to his son, the donor.  
 

Francis Hilliard, born in Cambridge, Massachusetts, graduated from Harvard College in 1823. 

He later studied law and was admitted to the bar in Suffolk County in 1830. The following year, 

he married Catherine Dexter Haven (1802-88), a grand-niece of Andrew Craigie, Jr. (cat. 34). 

Hilliard practiced law in Lowell, Massachusetts, and moved around the state, eventually settling 

with his family in Roxbury. There, Hilliard served as a judge for the insolvency courts and was 

elected to one term in the state legislature. In 1855 he was made a judge of the Roxbury police 

court, a position he held until his retirement. Hilliard and his wife moved to Worcester, 

Massachusetts, in 1862, and, although never elected to membership in the American Antiquarian 

Society, he gave 178 books, 98 pamphlets, and an engraving to the Society’s library.1 Some of 

his personal correspondence, full of fatherly advice for his five adult children, is in the AAS 

Manuscript Collection.2

Hilliard’s most significant contribution to the law was as an author. His first book, 

Elements of Law, was published in 1835. This was followed by summary publications on laws 

relating to mortgages, bankruptcy, contracts, taxation, and torts. A biographer noted: ‘[J]udges 

and lawyers lacked legal treatises which cited American decisions and showed how far the 

English common law had been followed by American courts or modified to suit new conditions. 

Textbooks presenting cases from all states were also needed in order to encourage the 

development of national judge-made law rather than particularistic local doctrines. Hilliard was 

one of the first and most voluminous of the authors who met these needs.’3   

 

The miniature of Hilliard was painted about the time that Elements of Law was published. It is 

attributed to the artist William Lewis, who began his career in 1812, painting portraits and 

miniatures in Salem, Massachusetts. His sitters included wealthy merchants and ship owners of 

Salem, and he continued to do most of his work there until 1829.4  Hilliard, who may have seen 



Lewis’s work in Boston during exhibitions at the Boston Athenaeum or Boston Mechanic’s 

Association, presumably hired the painter to create this miniature and a companion piece 

featuring his young wife.5   
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